1988

Vali Convalescent and Care Institutions, a Utah corporation v. Utah Department of Health, Division of Health Care Financing : Opening Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This an appeal from the final order of the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, the Honorable Michael R. Murphy, granting respondent's motion to dismiss petitioner's appeal and affirming the final determination of the Executive Director of the Department of Health. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a), since this is an appeal from a district court review of an adjudicative proceeding before a state agency.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is interest awardable under Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 where the principal sum due by contract is resolved by the parties without entry of a formal judgment?

2. Is petitioner entitled to interest under the Utah Prompt Payment Act (Utah Code Ann. §§ 15-6-1, et seq.), under the facts of this case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the times relevant to this appeal, VALI CONVALESCENT & CARE INSTITUTIONS ("VALI") was the owner and operator of nursing homes that provided nursing home services to Medicaid recipients within the State of Utah. Respondent Utah Department of Health, Division of Health Care Financing ("DOH") is a department of Utah state government and is charged with the duty of making

determinations of payments to be made to Medicaid providers for nursing home services provided to Medicaid recipients.

In January of 1980, VALI submitted certain Facility Cost Profiles ("FCP's") to DOH for reimbursement of funds expended in providing care to Medicaid recipients. Subsequent to the filing of these FCP's, and at the request of DOH, the Bureau of Medicaid Fraud undertook a criminal investigation of VALI based upon alleged fraud committed in the FCP's. Partial payment for services rendered was made to VALI during the pendency of that investigation. In April of 1982, the Bureau of Medicaid Fraud terminated its investigation of VALI with no criminal charges being filed or any sanctions being imposed.

Pursuant to the provisions of DOH's administrative hearing procedures for Medicaid recipients and providers, an exit conference and informal hearings were held in 1984, which were intended to make determinations of what funds were due to VALI on the basis of the FCP's. VALI did not raise the issue of its entitlement to interest on the funds due during these conferences and formal hearings, as it intended to raise that issue at a formal hearing before an Administrative Law Judge. As a result of the informal hearings and conferences, a determination was made that VALI was entitled to the principal sum of \$272,362.03. It was agreed between VALI and DOH that this amount covered only the items that were raised at the conferences and informal hearings. It was further specifically agreed between VALI and DOH that the

issue of interest had neither been raised nor discussed at the conferences and informal hearings.

A formal hearing was held on July 23, 1985 before David L. Stott, Administrative Law Judge. The sole issue for determination was whether VALI had settled or compromised its claim for interest. Following this hearing, the ALJ issued his decision, finding that VALI was entitled to interest, and stating: "Respondent should pay the claimant interest and ought to do so without further delays."

On or about April 18, 1986, the Executive Director of the Department of Health issued a decision that adopted the ALJ's factual findings but set aside his legal conclusions, denying that VALI was entitled to interest on its claim. On or about May 13, 1986, VALI filed a petition in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, appealing the decision of the Executive Director. On or about July 29, 1986, respondent filed a motion seeking to affirm the final determination of the Executive Director and to dismiss VALI's petition. Following numerous briefings and one hearing before the court on December 4, 1987, Judge Murphy issued a Memorandum Decision, dated February 11, 1988, in which he resolved the majority of the issues existing between the parties.

With respect to VALI's claims, the court found that VALI was not entitled to interest on the principal contractual obligation under either the Utah Procurement Code (Utah Code Ann.

§§ 63-56-1, et seq.), or the Utah Prompt Payment Act (Utah Code Ann. §§ 15-6-1, et seq.). With respect to respondent's defenses, the court found that the federal nature of the Medicaid program did not absolve DOH's responsibilities imposed by Utah law, that the inapplicability of the procurement code did not preempt the applicability of general principles of "pre-judgment interest" under Utah law, and that VALI was not precluded from seeking interest by either accord and satisfaction or waiver. Judge Murphy specified in his Memorandum Decision that a single issue remained, which was framed in that decision as "whether the principle of pre-judgment interest is applicable when there has been a resolution which avoids formal litigation."

Both parties provided additional briefs to the court on that issue, and the court rendered its decision by Minute Entry on May 11, 1988, granting respondent's Motion to Dismiss and affirming the determination of the Executive Director of the Department of Health. Final judgment was entered on June 7, 1988, and VALI filed a Notice of Appeal from that decision on July 6, 1988. Respondent filed its own Notice of Appeal on July 22, 1988.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. At all relevant times, VALI owned and operated nursing homes which provided services to State Medicaid recipients for the period January 1, 1978 through June 30, 1979. In

1978, VALI entered into an agreement with the Utah State Department of Social Services for each of four VALI centers to provide nursing home care to State recipients. Section A-2 of the contract provides that the State will:

Process payments to the provider within a reasonable time, after receipt of an itemized form 271-A for services rendered the previous month. Payment shall be made in accordance with the allowable costs reimbursement manual for nursing facilities, and shall not exceed amounts paid by the general public for such services. All payments subject to reasonable cost audit and adjustment. (Emphasis added).

As can be seen, the contract does not set forth specific services or specific prices. Instead, it was agreed that the provider would submit itemized statements, with fees for services, based on the allowable cost reimbursement manual and subject to the State audit process. Utah State Dept. of Social Services Nursing Facility Provider Agreement.

2. In January, 1980, VALI submitted Facility Cost Profiles ("FCP's") to the DOH that specified the services provided by VALI for the period January 1, 1978 through June 30, 1979 and the fees for those services. (Stipulation of Facts ¶ 1; Findings and Conclusions of Administrative Law Judge ¶ 1, p. 3).¹

¹ A Stipulation of Facts was executed by the parties hereto in connection with the hearing before the Administrative Law Judge. A copy of said Stipulation (hereinafter cited as "Stip.") is attached hereto as Exhibit "A." Similarly, the findings and conclusions of the Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter "ALJ Findings") are attached hereto as Exhibit "B."

3. Under normal circumstances state audits would have been completed, conferences and hearings would have been arranged, and payment made to VALI by July 1, 1980. Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Petition, p. 3.²

4. Rather than beginning this process, however, the state forwarded the FCP's to the Bureau of Medicaid Fraud and, in the Fall of 1980, the Bureau initiated an investigation that lasted approximately two and a half years. At the conclusion of the investigation, in April, 1982, the Bureau stated that there was no evidence to support any charges that VALI had filed false or inaccurate FCP's. VALI's claim for payment was reinstated. (Stip. ¶ 2; ALJ Findings ¶ 1, p.3).

5. During the investigation by the Bureau of Medicaid Fraud, virtually every business document VALI possessed was seized by search warrant. At the conclusion of the investigation, only part of VALI's business records were returned, and those that were returned were in such disarray as to be virtually worthless without a major effort at reconstruction by VALI. (Memorandum Decision, p. 2).

6. During the period from April, 1982, when the Bureau issued its decision, through March, 1985, the State

² This fact was set forth in VALI's Memorandum opposing the DOH's Motion to Dismiss its petition in the trial court without record citation, but also without objection by the DOH.

conducted a series of informal hearings and conferences as part of its cost audit process. The issue of interest on the principal sum found to be due and owing by the DHCF was not addressed at the conferences and informal hearings. (Stip. ¶ 12; ALJ Findings ¶¶ 1, 3, pp. 4, 5).

7. The DOH issued a decision on March 18, 1985 after an informal hearing, which stated, in part:

Both parties reserve the right to raise any of the issues discussed in this hearing or any related issues not necessarily discussed at the informal hearing level if the conflict cannot be resolved at the administrative review level.

(Stip. ¶¶ 11, 13 and Ex. H thereto).

8. A supplemental decision, evidenced by a DOH letter dated March 25, 1985, contained the same reservation of rights as noted above. (Stip. ¶ 14 and Exs. I and J thereto).

9. During the exit conferences and informal hearings, VALI intentionally did not raise the issue of whether DOH should pay interest on amounts found due and owing. VALI intended to raise the interest issue at a formal hearing before an Administrative Law Judge. (ALJ Findings ¶¶ 1-3, pp. 3-5).

10. A determination was made that VALI was entitled to the principal sum of \$272,362.03, as a result of the informal hearings and conferences. (Stip. ¶ 17 and Ex. N thereto).

11. At approximately the same time, the State submitted a proposed mutual release to VALI that would have released

the State from any claim that VALI might have for interest. (Stip. ¶ 18 and Ex. N thereto). VALI refused to execute such a release. (Transcript, pp. 75, 78).

12. A meeting was held at the DHCF offices on May 13, 1985. Participants included the DHCF acting director, an informal hearing officer, an audit manager, a State Assistant Attorney General, the owner of VALI and counsel for VALI. (Stip. ¶ 20). At that meeting, VALI informed the DHCF that the issue of interest had not been settled by the informal hearings. All parties agreed that the question of interest was never raised nor argued as an identifiable issue during the informal hearings. (Stip. ¶ 21).

13. On or about May 16, 1985, VALI cashed a state warrant in the amount of \$272,362.03. (Stip. ¶ 24). A letter accompanying the warrant stated that the sum represented "full settlement of all claims and demands arising from informal hearings conducted . . . on February 28, 1985 and March 20, 1985." (Stip. ¶ 23 and Ex. R thereto.)

14. Subsequently, VALI made a timely request for a formal hearing, at which the single issue would be whether VALI was entitled to interest on the principal sum paid. (Stip. ¶ 25).

15. After evidence was received at the formal hearing, the Administrative Law Judge found in favor of VALI and stated in his written opinion:

There is nothing complex or mysterious about it. Respondent should pay the claimant interest and ought to do so without further delays.

(ALJ Findings, p. 7).

16. The Executive Director of the Department of Health, without having heard the evidence, overturned that decision and denied VALI any interest on the sum of money previously paid. DOH "Final Determination," dated April 18, 1986.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Under the common law of the State of Utah, a creditor is entitled to interest "on debts overdue." Utah Code Annotated § 15-1-1 establishes the rate of interest applicable for the "forebearance of money." Nothing in either the statute or the common law would limit recovery of such interest only to situations in which the principal amount has been awarded pursuant to a formal judgment. In fact, such a limitation would be contrary to the well established principle that "settlements are favored in the law." Since DOH retained money that was owed to VALI, it must pay interest on the amount so retained, despite the fact that the principal was paid in settlement. In any event, VALI is entitled to interest under the Utah Prompt Payment Act, which requires state agencies to pay obligations owing on contracts within 60 days of their receipt of an invoice. DOH claims that the Prompt Payment Act is inapplicable to this case because the delay resulted from a "dispute." In fact, as the ALJ found,

there was no real dispute in this case, and DOH should be required to pay interest. Moreover, interpretation of the Prompt Payment Act dispute provision in the manner suggested by DOH would effectively nullify the entire Act, since state agencies could avoid the Act's effect in every instance by simply disputing legitimate claimed charges.

ARGUMENT

- I. UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-1-1 AND THE COMMON LAW OF UTAH, VALI IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER INTEREST ON AMOUNTS PAST DUE.

VALI's claim of entitlement to interest on the principal sum paid by DOH in this case is founded on both statute and Utah common law. In Utah, the statutory rate of interest, as of the dates of the parties' contracts, was as follows:

The legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods or things in action shall be six per cent per annum. But nothing herein contained shall be so construed as to in any way affect any penalty or interest charge, which by law applies to delinquent or other taxes or to any contract or obligations made before the 14th day of May, 1907.

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 (1953).³ This provision establishes the legal rate of interest applicable to payments required by contracts that do not themselves specify an applicable rate. In reliance upon § 15-1-1, the Utah Supreme Court has held that, "In contract cases, certainly, interest on amounts found to be due in judicial proceedings is recovery to which the creditor is entitled as a matter of law." Lignell v. Berg, 593 P.2d 800, 809 (Utah 1979). See also, SCM Land Company v. Watkins & Faber, 732 P.2d 105 (Utah 1986).

Thus, VALI has a statutory right to recover interest on the principal sums paid to it by DOH under the terms of the parties' contracts. Even in the absence of a statute, however, purely equitable principles would mandate the same result. For example, in Holmes v. Kewanee Oil Company, 233 Kan. 544, 664 P.2d 1335, 1343 (1983), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 953 (1985), the Supreme Court of Kansas stated that, "Where a party retains and makes actual use of money belonging to another, however, equitable principles require it to pay interest on the monies so retained and used." The Supreme Court of Utah in Jack B. Parson Construction Co. v. State, 552 P.2d 107 (Utah 1976), while not specifying the basis for its decision in that case, awarded interest against

³ The rate of interest provided by Section 15-1-1 was changed by the legislature to 8 percent in 1981, and to 10 percent in 1985. VALI contends that the interest to which it is entitled during the relevant time periods should be measured at the legal rates then in effect.

the State of Utah on a contractual obligation, and is consistent with both the statute and the equitable principle described in Holmes.

In any event, it has long been the case, under Utah common law, that interest is allowable "on debts overdue." In 1890, well before § 15-1-1 had been enacted, the Utah Supreme Court stated as follows:

At common law, no interest was allowed on debts overdue, unless there was an express or implied contract to pay interest.

* * *

This rule of the common law does not obtain in America, and interest is allowed on debts overdue even if there is no statute providing for interest. And the question has been settled in this territory in favor of the allowance of interest on debts overdue.

Wasatch Mineral Company v. Crescent Mineral Company, 24 P. 586, 587 (Utah 1890) (citations omitted).

There remains for discussion, however, the lower court's concern that "pre-judgment interest" may not be available where the parties have resolved the payment of principal without entry of a judgment. This concern was based, in large part, upon references to "pre-judgment interest" contained in Jack B. Parson, supra, and indeed, in many other interest cases as well. Such references are misleading to the extent that they imply that interest on obligations is only available where a judgment has been rendered. They are simply terms of convenience, used to

refer to the time period during which the interest runs--from the date payment is due to the date of judgment. At that point, the principal and interest is either paid, thereby ending the interest obligation, or the interest is added to the principal to form the total judgment amount, to which the judgment rate of interest is then applicable.

A more accurate term would perhaps be "prepayment" or "pre-resolution" interest, since it is only the act of payment of principal which is significant, as the payment of principal stops the running of interest at the "legal rate." The only significance of entry of a judgment is that the party to be paid obtains the additional benefit of "judgment interest," which is, in effect, compound interest. However, nothing in § 15-1-1 in any way limits its applicability to situations in which a judgment for principal is entered, nor do the cases applying equitable principles in any way suggest that entitlement to interest is dependent upon the entry of a judgment. In fact, only judgment interest (Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-4) is expressly made dependent upon the existence of a judgment.⁴ The absence of such a limitation in § 15-1-1 creates an inference that none exists.

⁴ Section 15-1-4 specifically provides for interest to be paid on "judgments," which interest runs from the date of judgment until the obligation has been paid. In contrast, § 15-1-1, upon

Footnote continued on next page.

Logic alone would also dictate that petitioner's entitlement to interest in this case should not depend upon the existence or nonexistence of a judgment for principal. Interest is payable for the forbearance of money, which exists whenever the principal obligation is not timely paid, whether it is ultimately reduced to judgment or is paid pursuant to a settlement by mutual agreement. The only issue is the time at which the running of interest ceases. Where the principal is paid prior to entry of a judgment, such as by virtue of a settlement, the forbearance is necessarily shortened, and the interest payable is consequently less. However, the entitlement to interest does not change.

In the relatively few cases that have considered claims for interest subsequent to payment of principal, the issue has invariably been whether the party seeking payment waived its entitlement to interest by acceptance of principal, rather than whether entitlement to interest is dependent upon the entry of a judgment. One such case, United States v. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc., 590 F.Supp. 266 (S.D.N.Y. 1984),

Footnote continued from previous page.

which petitioner relies, makes no reference whatsoever to the existence of a judgment, and the interest provided therein runs from the date on which the obligation of payment was due, until either payment is made, at which point the interest obligation ceases, or judgment is entered, at which point, § 15-1-4 becomes applicable.

contains a discussion of this issue which is equally applicable to the facts of the present case. In that case, the United States Postal Service ("USPS"), had been overcharged for its electricity by Con Ed for a period of approximately five years. After the error was discovered, Con Ed tendered USPS a check in the amount of the overcharge, but refused its demand for interest on that amount. USPS negotiated the check, with an endorsement that read, "Negotiation of this check is not to be construed as a waiver of U.S. Postal Service's claim for interest payments," and additionally, sent Con Ed a letter notifying it that the payment had been accepted under protest.

USPS subsequently instituted a lawsuit for recovery of interest on the overpayment, at the legal rate as provided by statute. In finding that the acceptance by USPS of principal did not preclude it from seeking interest in a subsequent lawsuit, the Court relied upon Girard Trust Company v. United States, 270 U.S. 163, 168 (1926), which contains the following language:

In this case, there is statutory provision for it [interest], and it is analogous to a suit in debt or covenant in which the contract specifically provides for payment of interest on the principal debt. In such cases, the authorities all hold that the acceptance of the payment of the principal debt does not preclude a further suit for the interest unpaid. And the same rule obtains where the obligation is one that by statute bears interest.

The Con Ed court additionally noted that USPS would have been entitled to interest if it had sued for the principal amount,

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