1988

# Vali Convalescent and Care Institutions, a Utah Corporation v. Utah Department of Health, Division of Health care financing : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the District Court, Vali argued that it had a statutory right to interest based upon any one of three specified Utah statutes. The Third District Court ruled against Vali on all three statutes. Vali's appeal is based on two of those statutes. The Department of Health's argument is simply that neither of the statutes relied on by Vali apply in this case.

Though Vali has argued below that it does not seek interest as damages, Vali now asserts that it does seek interest as damages. The Department of Health argues that it is not permissible to raise a new issue on appeal and that even if it were permissible, the law provides that acceptance of the principal amount bars any claim for interest as damages. Vali did accept the full principal amount and is therefore barred from now claiming interest.

By way of cross-appeal, the Department of Health points out that the final settlement was the result of compromise between the parties. Moreover, the Department's proposal for settlement was, by its own terms, a proposal for final settlement. Vali did not reject the offer or even propose a counter offer but simply accepted the offer as written, i.e., as an offer for final settlement. Hence, Vali could not thereafter raise another claim.

Furthermore, the compromised settlement agreement was binding on the parties and was substituted for the underlying claims. The compromise agreement barred any subsequent litigation on the underlying claim.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

**SECTION 15-1-1, UTAH CODE ANN. CREATES NO RIGHT OR ENTITLEMENT TO INTEREST; IT MERELY ESTABLISHES THE LEGAL RATE**

The first issue presented by Appellant in this appeal is:

Is interest awardable under Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 where the principal sum due by contract is resolved by the parties without entry of formal judgment?

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 states:

(1) Except when parties to a lawful contract agree on a specified rate of interest, the legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action shall be 10% per annum. Nothing in this section may be construed to in any way affect any penalty or interest charge which by law applies to delinquent or other taxes or to any contract or obligations made before May 14, 1981.

(2) The parties to a lawful contract may agree upon any rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action.

In its Minute Entry of May 11, 1988, the Third District Court, in this action, ruled:

Section 15-1-1, Utah Code Ann., on its face creates no cause, claim, right or entitlement; it merely establishes the legal rate of interest.

The correctness of the Court's ruling is verified by a brief examination of the legislative history of Section § 15-1-1, and by a close reading of that statute. Section 15-1-1 was first enacted in 1907. At that time the common law in Utah already provided for prejudgment interest as damages on amounts past due. Godbe v. Young, 1 U. 55 (No date listed); Perry v. Taylor, 1 U. 63 (1871). Hence, § 15-1-1 did not create any new right or even codify an existing one. Rather, § 15-1-1 simply set the rate at which prejudgment interest would be assessed when a party had a common law right to prejudgment interest or when the parties had contracted for the payment of prejudgment interest but had not agreed upon a rate.

A close reading of 15-1-1 will verify that this is true. There are no words requiring payment. The statute does not say "the debtor shall pay interest" or "the creditor is entitled to interest." Rather, it simply says "the legal rate of interest . . . shall be 10% per annum." The right to the interest is derived from the common law. The statute (§ 15-1-1) simply sets the rate.

Since Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 in and of itself creates no right or entitlement to interest, Vali is not entitled to interest under that statute. In order for Vali to be entitled to interest at the rate set by § 15-1-1, Vali would have to show that it is entitled to interest pursuant to principles of the common law.

## POINT II

VALI CLAIMED BELOW THAT INTEREST WAS SOUGHT PURSUANT TO STATUTORY ENTITLEMENT AND NOT PURSUANT TO THE COMMON LAW. VALI CANNOT NOW CLAIM ENTITLEMENT TO INTEREST PURSUANT TO THE COMMON LAW, BUT EVEN IF IT COULD, THE COMMON LAW RULE OF EXTINGUISHMENT WOULD BAR VALI'S CLAIM.

At the administrative hearing level, Vali argued that

[s]ince interest is being sought pursuant to State statutes and not as general damages,  
the general rule of extinguishment does not apply.

Claimants Hearing Memorandum, p. 9 Emphasis added (R. 59). Thus, Vali did not seek interest based on a theory of damages. On the contrary, Vali specifically argued that it did not seek interest as damages but rather as an entitlement pursuant to certain State statutes, so as to avoid application of the general rule of extinguishment. (That rule provides that when interest is claimed as damages, acceptance of the principal amount extinguishes any claim for interest and that a separate suit for interest as damages may not be maintained.)

Statutory entitlement, of course, was also the basis of Vali's claim on appeal to the district court. Again, in framing its issues on appeal before this Honorable Court, Vali did not claim interest as damages but rather argued only that it was

entitled to interest pursuant to State statutes. Indeed, the first time Vali claimed interest as damages was in response to DOH's Motion for Summary Disposition in this Honorable Court.

The law in Utah is well settled that issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Franklin Financial v. New Empire Develop. Co., 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah 1983). Hence, Vali's untimely claim that it now seeks interest as damages should not even be considered by this Court.

Moreover, even if Vali could now assert a claim for interest under the common law, it would not prevail because of the general rule of extinguishment. The law in Utah is clear that "[p]rejudgment interest represents an amount awarded as damages," L & A Drywall, Inc. v. Whitmore Const. Co., Inc., 608 P.2d 626, 629 (Utah 1980) and that

where interest is payable merely as damages for nonpayment of money when due, acceptance of the principal amount bars any claim for interest.

Cox Const. Co. v. State Road Comm., 583 P.2d 87 (Utah 1978).

Moreover, the authority relied upon by the Cox court indicates that this is true even though the creditor receives the payment of principal, without interest, under protest. The rule barring separate claims for interest is further explained in Point III hereinafter.

Since Vali did accept payment of the principal in full, Vali's claim for interest is barred and Vali cannot now maintain a separate action for interest.



### POINT III

THE CASES RELIED ON BY VALI IN POINT I OF ITS ARGUMENT ARE INAPPLICABLE IN THE PRESENT CASE AND DO NOT JUSTIFY VALI'S CLAIM FOR INTEREST UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-1-1.

The cases relied on by Vali in Point I of its Argument are easily distinguishable from the case at bar. One of the most significant differences is that none of the cases relied on by Vali involved a claim for interest on an amount that had been determined by a compromise between the parties. Rather, all of the cases relied on by Vali involved a claim for interest on either a principal amount that was uncontested or on the amount of a liability that had been determined by the Court.

By way of contrast, payment of a compromised claim is payment of a claim of questionable validity and enforceability. Certainly, it would be unjust to assess interest on such a claim. Though Vali has the burden of proof, it has not cited one case where interest was claimed and ordered on a settlement amount that had been determined by a compromise between the parties. Indeed, it is highly doubtful that such a case exists, not only because of the manifest injustice of assessing interest on a questionable claim but also because when parties compromise and settle their disputes, the compromise agreement is substituted for the antecedent claim and the rights and liabilities of the parties are measured and limited by the terms of the compromise agreement, as is explained more fully hereinafter.

In trying to justify its claim that interest should be paid on the settled amount, Vali points out that the law generally encourages settlements. Vali then seems to argue that

a ruling denying presettlement interest on the compromised amount would fly in the face of the well-settled principle of law that "settlements are favored in the law." Respondent asserts that quite the opposite is true. The only way to encourage settlements is to enforce them. If the Court were to allow a party to assert additional claims after a settlement had been agreed to, surely that would have a chilling effect. Certainly, there is disincentive to compromise and settle if a party must always wonder whether the opposing party will later assert a claim for interest. Moreover, a party would be disinclined to agree to pay a questionable claim if there was always the possibility that the other party could later hit him over the head with interest.

If a claim for interest could be maintained after entering into a settlement, the only way for a party to protect himself from such uncertainty would be to inquire up front whether the other party would like to claim interest. Such would be not only unfair but would also fly in the face of the well-settled principle that each party is responsible to assert its own claims.

Moreover, if a claim for interest were made up front, prior to the settlement, it is quite possible that it would affect the extent to which the payor was willing to compromise the claim. Indeed, in the present case, Mr. Brown, Vali's principal, testified that he thought it would have been more difficult to get a settlement if interest had been included in the claim. Formal Hearing Transcript, p. 61, lines 1-6.

The law favors a policy of openness and honesty. When parties are negotiating a settlement, they should put all their demands on the table before the compromise is accepted. It is not only unlawful, it is also manifestly unfair to allow one party to impose an additional claim on the other after a settlement has been reached.

Another difference between the two principal cases relied on by Vali and the present case is that, in those cases, the statutes relied upon by the courts specifically provided a right to interest instead of just setting the legal rate as does Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1. In United States v. Consolidated Edison, 590 F. Supp. 266 (S.D.N.Y 1984), the Court relied on N.Y. Civ. Prac. Law § 5001 (McKinney 1963) which begins with the words "Interest shall be recovered . . . ." In Girard Trust Co. v. United States, 270 U.S. 163 (1926), the Court relied upon a United States statute that provided ". . . interest shall be allowed and paid upon the total amount of such a refund . . . ." 42 Stat. 316 § 1324(a) (1921). Hence, the statutes relied on in both cases specifically provided a right to interest, whereas Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 merely sets the legal rate.

Con. Ed. and Girard are the only cases cited by Vali where a suit for interest was allowed after the principal had been paid. There is an additional distinction between those cases and the present case that is significant.

As a general rule, if interest is due by the terms of the contract, the payment of the principal is no bar to its subsequent recovery, but if it is not due by the terms of the contract, the payment of the principal sum is a bar to recovery.

45 Am. Jur. 2d, Interest and Usury, § 341 p. 259.

In finding that an action for interest could be maintained after payment of the principal, the Con. Ed. Court relied on that general rule, as evidenced by the following language the Con. Ed. court quoted from the Girard decision:

[In Stewart] [t]his Court held that the taxpayer could not maintain an independent action for interest, for the reason that in such cases interest is considered as damages, does not form the basis of the action, and is only an incident to the recovery of the principal debt. We do not think that it controls this case. The payment of interest in the Stewart Case was not expressly provided for in the Act. In this case there is statutory provision for it, and it is analogous to a suit in debt or covenant in which the contract specifically provides for payment in interest on the principal debt.

Con. Ed., p. 270. Emphasis added. Thus, in Con. Ed. and Girard, not only was the principal amount uncontested, there were also statutes that specifically provided for payment of interest. The Courts reasoned that those statutes were analogous to a contract that specifically provides for the payment of interest. Therefore payment of the principal would not bar a suit for interest. However, consistent with the general rule quoted above, the Courts also noted that it was a different situation than where interest was claimed as damages.

In the present case, the amount of the payment was a compromised amount rather than an uncontested amount, the statute (Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1) does not specify a right to interest, and the Utah Supreme Court has made it clear that prejudgment interest is damages, as pointed out at page 18 hereinabove. Hence, Girard and Con. Ed are inapplicable in the present case.

At page 11 of its brief, Vali states:

In reliance upon § 15-1-1, the Utah Supreme Court has held that, "In contract cases, certainly, interest on amounts found to be due in judicial proceedings is recovery to which the creditor is entitled as a matter of law." Lignell v. Berg, 593 P.2d 800, 809 (Utah 1979).

Vali seems to suggest that the Court in Lignell relied on § 15-1-1 in determining that the creditor was entitled to interest when in fact the Court relied on several cases, not on the statute, to establish that right. The Court did, however, reference § 15-1-1 as setting the legal rate. See Lignell, p. 809. This, of course, is consistent with DHCF's argument as set forth above. Section 15-1-1 does not establish a right, but merely sets the rate.

It should also be noted that the above-quoted language from Lignell, by its own terms, applies only to "interest on amounts found to be due in judicial proceedings." Lignell makes no reference to compromised claims.

Moreover, application of the Lignell rule in the present case would not entitle Vali to recovery. If a party pays the principal in full, there is no principal owed, and the only amount that can be "found to be due in judicial proceedings" is zero. Of course, interest on a zero amount is itself zero.

Citing Holmes v. Kewanee Oil Co., 664 P.2d 1335 (Kan. S. Ct. 1983), Vali claims that equitable principals would entitle Vali to interest "where a party retains and makes actual use of money belonging to another." Though that may be true, there is no evidence in the present case that the money was retained and used. Indeed, the evidence shows that 73% of the settled amount

was paid by the Federal Government. Furthermore, since the settlement amount was reached by compromise, it is questionable whether the money "belonged to another" until the settlement was agreed to.

It should also be noted that prejudgment interest is denied where the claim is substantially inflated and a genuine dispute exists between the parties as to the amount due since the policy of the law is to discourage grossly inflated and overstated claims. Pappas v. Jack O.A. Nelsen Agency, Inc., 260 N.W.2d 271 (Wis. 1978). As DHCF has previously pointed out, this whole dispute was caused by the grossly overstated claims on Vali's Facility Cost Profiles. Even the final disallowance was a whopping \$708,000.00 on an allowed claim of about 3.2 million dollars. Hence, interest should not be allowed.

#### POINT IV

##### UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-6-1 DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE WAS A DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES

The second issue presented by Appellant in this appeal is:

Is petitioner entitled to interest under the  
Utah Prompt Payment Act (Utah Code Ann. §§  
15-6-1 et seq.?)

The Prompt Payment Act (copy attached as Exhibit A) is an act providing for the payment of interest by the State on delinquent accounts. By its own terms, the Prompt Payment Act does not apply where there is a dispute as to the amount due. That act provides that if the agencies' failure to timely pay

is the result of a dispute between the  
agency and the business over the amount due

or over compliance with the contract, the provisions of this act are inapplicable."

Utah Code Ann. § 15-6-4 (1986 Replacement). Hence, in this action, the Third District Court ruled, at page five of its Memorandum Decision of February 11, 1988, that the Prompt Payment Act

is limited by Section 15-6-4, which renders the interest provisions inapplicable if the failure to timely pay is the result of a dispute. There was here a dispute . . . Section 15-6-3 is therefore inapplicable.

Vali has argued that there is no dispute in this case and that the Act therefore applies. Such a position is untenable.

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